W’aw"‘”'] Lovse”

.
XN

51,613
A
AR

UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURY SR
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DONNA McCOMAS, CLERK'S OFFICE U S DIST.

COURT, SO. DIST. OF W-VA.
Plaintiff RONALD D. LAWSON, CLERK

e o LIRS e e

VS. CVIL ACTI ON NO. 2:96-0431

FI NANCI AL CCOLLECTI ON AGENCI ES,
[ NC. |
Def endant .

VEMORANDUM OPI N ON_ AND ORDER

Pending is Defendant's notion to dismiss ‘pursuant tO Rule =

12(b)(6), Federal Rules of Cvil Procedure.' The Court DEN ES t he

not i on.

| . FACTUAL DEVELOPMENT

Plaintiff Donna McComas received a guaranteed student |oan

(GSL) while attending Huntington Junior College's Professional

'The conpl aint originally naned as Defendants both Financi al
Col | ection Agencies |ncorporated (FCA) and Pennsylvania H gher
Educati on Assistance Agency (PHEAA). PHEAA has now been dropped as

a party via an anmended conplaint. A Rule 12(b) (1) motion, which
was msfiled as a Rule 12(b)(2) notion, applied only to PHEAA

Accordingly, the Rule 12(b)(l) notion is DENIED wi t hout prejudice.

FCA also filed notions (1) to dismss for insufficiency of
process; (2) to supplenent its menorandum supporting its notion to
dismss; and (3) to strike allegations from the conplaint.
Defendant later filed a notion seeking to withdraw the first
notion, which the Court GRANTS. The Court further GRANTS the notion
to suppl enment. The Court possesses considerable discretion in
ruling on a notion to strike. see, e.g., 5A Charles A Wight &
Arthur R Mller, Federal Practice and Procedure s 1382 (1990).
After careful consideration, the Court DENIES the notion.




(fice Assistant Program  ghe never received her diploma because

she failed to pass the required proficiency test. Plaintiff bl ames

her failing efforts on the poor quality of instruction she received
at the institution she attended prior to her Huntington Juni or

Col | ege attendance. Plaintiff since has been unable to obtain

enpl oynent in the fields in which she was supposed to have been

trained, working jnstead at fast food restaurants and gasoline

stations.

FCA has nade attenpts to collect on McComas’ GSL. gy, al | eges
agents of FCA tel ephoned her and (1) identified thensel ves as agents
of the Justice Departnent; (2) demanded immediate full payment and
threatened a 42% coll ection fee; (3) refused requests for a
reasonabl e paynent schedule; and (4) threatened to garnish her
wages.

McComas filed an eight-count conplaint accusing FCA of illega

collection activities. Counts One through Four rely on the Fair

Debt Col | ection Practices Act, 15 U S.C. ¢ 1692 and Counts Five

through Eight are premsed on the west Virginia Consuner Credit and
Protection Act (WGCCPA), West Virginia Code §§ 46a-2-122 et seq. FCA
asserts the state clains are preenpted.

[, DI SCUSSI ON

| nt roducti on

The Stafford Loan Program (SLP) under which Plaintiff obtained
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her GSL is part of the H gher Education Act of 1965 (HEA), 20 U.S.C.
§§ 1001 et seq. Pursuant to 20 U S.C. § 1078 (c)(2)(A), holders of
GSLs under the SLP are required to exercise due diligence in their
collection efforts.

Title 3 CF.R ss 682.410 and .411 establish the m ni mum
collection activities |enders nust observe in proceeding to collect
delinquent or defaulted GSLs. Section 682.411 nandates witten and
oral contacts holders nust make during collection attenpts. FCA
argues since tel ephone contacts are mandated specifically by section
682.411, any state |law regulating such contacts is preenpted
B. The Statutes, Regulations and Interpretations

In determning the preenptive scope of the regulations in
question, the Court examnes (1) the regulations; (2) an agency

interpretation of the regulations; and (3) Congressional intent in

enacting the HEA.
1. The Regulation and the Agency Interpretation:

Section 682.411(n) expressly “preempt{s] any State |aw,

including State statutes, regulations, or rules, that would conflict

with or hinder satisfaction of the requirenents of or frustrate the

purposes of this section." Id. (enphasis added). On Cctober 1, 1990
the Departnent of Educati on (DOE) issued a "Notice of

Interpretation" addressing the breadth of preenption under sections

682.410 and .411:




The Secretary promnul gated §s 682.410(b)(4) and 682.411 to
establish mninmum required collection actions on GSL

obligations, and intended these provisions of the GSL
regul ations to preenpt contrary or i1nconsistent State Taw
to the extent necessary to permt conpliance wth the
Federal regqulations.

55 Fed.Reg. 40120, 40121 (1990)(emphasis added).  This portion of
the Notice is consistent with section 682.411(n) quoted above. Both
mandate preenption of conflicting state |aus or procedur es
frustrating the purpose of the HEA regul ations. The Noti ce
conti nues:

These provisions conprehensively requlate the pre-

litigation I nf or mal collection activity on GSIP
oblisations, by specifically requiring holders to conplete
a sequence of collection contacts with debtors. These

provisions therefore preenpt State law that would
prohibit, restrict, or inpose burdens on any category of
GSLP loans. . . . Mreover, because holders of GSLP |oans
commonly engage servicers and collection agencies to
performthese dunning activities, this preenption includes
any State |law that would hinder or prohibit any activity
taken by these third parties to conplete these required

st eps.
Id. (enphasis added). The underscored passage iS nore expansive
than either the remainder of the Notice or the interpreted
preenptive regulations. The passage not only indicates sections
682.410 and ,411 preenpt state laws hindering or prohibiting the
collection activities required by the regulation, but also suggests

an intent to conprehensively regulate prelitigation collection

activity regardless of potential conflict, hindrance or frustration




The isolated passage, however, in a Notice otherw se consistent
with the regul ations, does not conpel the Court to conclude the DoOE
i ntended the regulations to preenpt all state lawrelated to the
collection of student |oans. Read in its entirety, the Notice was
designed to indicate that sections 682.410 and , 411 preenpt only
those state |laws contrary to or inconsistent with the collection
procedures nmandated by the regulations or those |aws that woul d

frustrate the purpose of the act.?

‘There are many consi derations supporting this analysis.
First, a contrary reading of the regulation would make it
internally inconsistent. Second, even if a contrary interpretation
was intended by the DOE, the Court is not bound by it. The Notice
IS an interpretive rather than a legislative rule and need not be
accorded the sane deference as a legislative rule pursuant to
Chevron U.S.A v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U S. 837
(1984). Martin v. OSHRC, 499 U. S 144, 157  (1991) (noting
interpretive rules are only entitled to "sone weight"); Shalala v.
Quernsey Mem Hosp., 115 S. O. 1232, 1239 (1995). But cf. Auer V.
Robbins, No. 95-897, 1997 W 65558, at *6 (U.S. Feb. 19, 1997).
Third, even interpretations contained in legislative rules are not
given controlling weight if they are "plainly erroneous or
inconsistent with the regulation.” Thomas Jefferson Universitv v.
Shalala, 114 s. ct. 2381, 2386 (1994)(quoted authority and marks
omi t t £ea glso United States v. Bovnton, 63 F.3d 337, 342 (4th
Gr. 1995). Such an inconsistency is apparent here. Finally, even
i f Chevron requires courts to defer to agency action in nost
Instances, courts need not defer to an agency in determning
whet her a federal statute preenpts state law. The Suprene Court
recently assunmed, w thout deciding, that the question of whether a
statute is preenptive "nust always be decided de novo by the
courts." smilev v. Gtibank, 116 s.ct. 1730, 1735 (1996).

FCA points out that in Brannan v. United Student A d Funds,
Inc.. 94 rF.3d 1260 (9th Gr. 1996), petition for cert. 6iled, 5
U S L W 3539 (Jan. 29, 1997)(No. 96-1210), two of three judges on
a NNnth Grcuit Court of Appeals panel rely on the Notice to
conclude that the HEA and the GSL regul ations preenpt the O egon
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2. Congressional Intentfor the HEA:
I n determ ning whether sections 682.410 and .411 preenpt the
W/CCPA, the Court also nust divine Congress' intent in enacting the

HEA. See California Federal Savings & Loan v. Querra, 479 U S. 272,

280 (1986).°

Wth sone exceptions, federal |aw generally supersedes state

law in three ways: (1) express preenption; (2) Congressional intent

to occupy the field, inferable from a conprehensive federal schene
practically displacing supplenmental state regul ation (field

preenption); and (3) preenption only of conflicting state |aw

(conflict preenption). Under the third option, “a conflict occurs
ei ther because conpliance with both federal and state regulations is
a physical inpossibility or because state |aw stands as an obstacle

to the acconplishnent and execution of the full purposes gngd

obj ectives of Congress." Cuerra, 479 U S. at 280-81.
The HEA does not expressly preenpt West Virginia law relating

to debt collection. The Court also has little difficulty concluding

Unfair Debt Collection Practices Act. W t hout undertaking a
whol esal e conparison of the Oregon and West Virginia statutory
schemes, Brannan i s, of course, not binding in this Grcuit.

It is inportant to note that while preenption may result from
either congressional or agency action, the |atter nust act within
the scope of its congressionally delegated authority for valid
preenption. See Louisiana Public Service Comm’'n v. FCC, 476 U.S.
355, 368-69 (1985).




the HEA |acks the conprehensive scope necessary for field

preemption.* The third option thus is the only one conceivably
appl i cabl e.

A conflict between federal and state law arises when
“conpliance with both federal and state regulations is a physical

impossibility, or because the state |aw stands as an obstacle to the

‘The nere existence of a detailed federal regulatory scheng,
like the one at issue here, "does not by itself inply pre-enption
of state renedies." Enslish v. CGeneral Elec. Co., 496 U. S. 72, 87
(1990). Further, Congress acted expressly to preenpt other areas
of state law related to the student |oan program but did not do so
inrelation to debt collection. See Tipton v. Secretary of Educ.,
768 F. Supp. 540, 554 (S.D. W Va. 1991). This is persuasive
evi dence Congress did not intend to preenpt state law as it
pertains to collection of student |oans. (stating "express
provi sions for preenption of sone state laws inply that Congress
intentionally did not preenpt state |aw generally, or in respects
other than those addressed."). Keans v. Tenpe Tech. lInstitute,
Inc., 39 F.3d 222, 225 (9th Gr. 1994). Congress sinply did not
intend to occupy the entire field of pre-litigation debt collection
activities.

It is true preenptive intent nay be inferred not only when the
regul atory schene | eaves no room for state supplenentation, but
al so when a Congressional act “touch{es] a field in which the
federal interest is so domnant that the federal systemw || be
assuned to preclude enforcenent of state |laws on the same subject.”
Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp., 331 U'S. 218, 230 (1947). There
is, however, a presunption against finding preenption of state |aws
in areas traditionally regulated by the states. See Medtronic,
Inc. v. Lohr, 116 S. C 2240, 2250 (1996); cCipollone v. ljssett
Goup Inc., 505 U S 504, 518 (1992); California v. ARC Anerica
Corp., 490 U S 93, 101 (1989). Consuner protection is a field
traditionally regulated by the states, and the WCCPA falls within
that category. See, e.q., Florida linme & Avocado Growers v. Paul
373 U S 132, 150 (1963); Ceneral Mdttors Corp v Abrans, 897 F.2d
34, 41 (2nd Cr. 1990).




acconpl i shnent and execution of the full purposes and objectives of
Congress.” @uerra, 479 U.S. at 281 (quotation marks and citations
omtted).

First, the WCCPA as a whole does not conflict with the HEA or
its acconpanying regulations. Several WCCPA provisions conpl enent

the applicable federal law. For exanple, the WCCPA prohibits debt

collectors fromusing "any fraudul ent, deceptive, or m sl eading
representation or neans to collect or attenpt to collect clains or
to obtain information concerning consuners.” W Va. Code § 46A-2-
127. On the subject of debt collection, the HEA sinply provides the
guarantee agreenment shall "assure that due diligence will be
exercised in the collection of loans insured under the program" 20
U S.C s 1078(c)(2)(A). There is no cross purpose in requiring due
diligence in collection, while also requiring non-fraudul ent, non-
deceptive or non-msleading representations of the putative

col | ector.

Plaintiff's state clains relate to alleged statenents and
representati ons FCA nade during tel ephone conversations. FCA
asserts generally that since tel ephone conversations are required by
sections 682.410 and .411, Plaintiff's state |law clains conflict
wth the regulations and are preenpted. The Court di sagrees.
Mandati ng tel ephone contacts generally certainly does not give the

caller license to use abusive or deceptive nethods to harass the
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bor r ower. There is no conflict between the two nmandates. Asset
forth below, this sane, basic analysis applies to the specific
provi sions of the WHQCCPA at issue here.

Count V alleges FCA "threatened | egal action when such was not
intended" in violation of the wccpA. FCA asserts this claimis
preenpted by section 682.411(d)(2), which requires the guarantee
agency to sue borrowers under certain circunstances. Plaintiff's
claimis not based on a threat of |egal action alone, but rather on
an all eged deceptive threat of |egal action. Det er mi nati on of
whet her the threat was nade or deceptive in fact rests with the
trier of fact. The state claimthus is not facially inconsistent
with the regul ations.

Count VI alleges FCA misled Plaintiff by telling her 33% of her
wages woul d be garnished, without also informng her there nust be
in effect a judicial order permtting such garnishment, in violation
of section 46a-2-124 of the WCCPA. A debt collector can conplete
t he sequence of collection activities required by the regul ations
while still informng the debtor a judicial order nust be in effect
before garnishnent is permtted. This section of the WCCPA too,
t hen, does not conflict with or frustrate federal |aw

Count VIl alleges an FCA agent deceptively represented on two
occasi ons she was affiliated with the governnent in violation of
WCCPA section 46A-2-127(f). As above, a debt collector can conply

9




with the federally required sequence of contacts w thout enploying
a false governmental identity.

Count wvi1Ir alleges FCA used unfair and unconscionable neans to
col l ect a debt. Plaintiff alleges FCA threatened to add 42%in
collection costs to her debt, an anmount allegedly not authorized by

the loan contract, in violation of the W/CCPA § 46A-2-128(d). The

HEA and its regulations require due diligence of debt collectors;

they do not authorize fear-inducing statenents to collect

unaut hori zed fees.

None of Plaintiff's clainms are preenpted. Accordi ngly, FCA’s
nmotion to dismss is DEN ED.
III. CONCLUSI ON
Based on the foregoing, the Court concludes Plaintiff's state

clainms are not preenpted. Accordingly, the Court DENES Defendant's

nmotion to di sm ss.

The Cerk is directed to send a copy of this Memorandum Opi ni on

and Order to counsel of record.

ENTER: March 7, 1997

ST

Charles H. Haden II, Chief Judge




